1943

# Pearl Spencer v. Santa Fe Trail Transportation Co. and Leonard Rushing : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

The physical facts were as follows:

Plaintiff was injured when an automobile driven by Rose Sorenson collided with the automobile in which the plaintiff was riding. The accident occurred on U. S. Highway 89, between Redmond and Gunnison, Utah, approximately one mile and a half south of the Gunnison Sugar Factory. The time was Sunday, November 15, 1942, at approximately 6:45 p. m.

At the place where the accident occurred the road had a hard surface and was divided by a yellow line into two lanes, approximately nine feet wide. The road was straight and wet and was partially covered with slush. This much is admitted. The plaintiff's and the defendants' evidence differed as to how the accident occurred.

The difference consisted in plaintiff's evidence which showed that the bus, while travelling north on the afore-said highway at the time and place alleged, sideswiped an automobile, driven by Rose Sorenson, which was traveling in the opposite direction, causing said automobile to careen out of control onto the side of the road on which the automobile, in which plaintiff was riding as a passenger, was traveling. As a result, the Sorenson car crashed into the car in which plaintiff was riding and plaintiff sustained the serious and permanent injuries complained of. The defendants' version of the accident differs principally in the fact that they deny that the bus struck the Sorenson car. They claim to know nothing about what happened. However, they do admit that the bus was in the exact location of the accident at the approximate time the injuries complained of occurred.

### PLAINTIFF'S TESTIMONY

Plaintiff's evidence in chief consisted of the testimony of four witnesses who were riding in the Sorenson car proceeding south on highway 89, toward Redmond, Utah, and of the testimony of the plaintiff and Maxine Anderson, who was the driver of the car in which plaintiff was riding.

The four witnesses who were riding in the Sorenson car told substantially the same story. (It is undenied except on one point. The defendants deny that the Santa Fe bus struck the Sorenson car.) They were all employees at the Turkey Plant in Gunnison. On November 15, 1943, at approximately 6:30 p. m. they left the

Turkey Plant in Rose Sorenson's automobile and proceeded southward toward their homes in Redmond. It was dusk and the road was wet and partially covered with slush. Rose Sorenson was driving. Emma Jensen was sitting next to her in the front seat, and Ina Sorenson and Cleone Jensen were sitting together in the back seat. When the Sorenson car approached the vicinity where the collision later occurred, the four women in the car observed the defendants' bus proceeding toward them on the highway. When they first observed the bus it was crowding the middle of the road and as it approached nearer they observed that it was over the middle line and on their side of the road. Rose Sorenson, who was driving the car, thereupon drove the car off the paved portion of the highway about two feet onto the shoulder of the road. (R. 122) At this time, her car was still in motion. As the bus approached nearer, she observed the rear portion of it suddenly slide, so that it struck the front left portion of her car and knocked her semi-conscious. (R. 112) The other three witnesses in the car then observed that the Sorenson car careened and slid over onto the portion of road reserved for north-bound traffic. At this same time, the car in which the plaintiff was riding as a passenger was proceeding north-erly about one-half a block behind the bus. The Sorenson car, while out of control, ran into the car in which plaintiff was riding, and as a proximate result, the plaintiff sustained the injuries complained of.

After the plaintiff had been taken out of the car, and after both cars had ben emptied of all occupants, a milk truck, traveling in a northerly direction, ran into the

car in which plaintiff had been riding. It thus appears from plaintiff's testimony that there had been three separate collisions on the highway at the time and place where plaintiff sustained her injuries. This is also admitted.

It appeared that immediately after the Sorenson car had collided with the car in which plaintiff was riding, that Rose Sorenson had explained her presence on the wrong side of the road by stating that she had been struck by the Santa Fe bus.

Maxine Anderson, who was the driver of the car in which plaintiff was riding, testified in behalf of the plaintiff. Her story was substantially the same as that told by the plaintiff with reference to the events occurring immediately before and at the scene of the accident.

They testified that they had been to Richfield to visit the parents of Maxine Anderson. On their return trip to Manti they passed through Redmond. While passing through Redmond they observed on the side of the road an abandoned Santa Fe bus. As they proceeded northward toward Avery Beck's place, which was where the accident subsequently occurred, a Santa Fe bus passed them going in the same direction. This bus passed them while they were on an "S" curve, which is approximately one-half to three-fourths of a mile south of Avery Beck's. When the bus passed, they observed that it was going about 35 miles an hour, which was approximately 5 miles an hour faster than they were traveling.

At the time the bus passed the two girls, they were

listening on the radio to the "Inner Sanctum" program, which came on the air Sunday evenings at that time, at 6:30 p. m. It was, therefore, sometime between 6:30 and 7:00 o'clock when the bus passed the automobile in which the plaintiff was riding.

After the bus passed the car in which plaintiff was riding, the two girls observed it proceed northerly on U. S. Highway 89 toward Avery Beck's place. They noticed nothing unusual about the bus. They remembered seeing the rear clearance lights as the bus proceeded ahead of them. When the bus was approximately one-half a block in front of the car in which the two girls were riding, and a short distance north of Avery Beck's residence, the two girls noticed the flash of lights from another car coming in the opposite direction. These lights came onto the side of the road on which plaintiff and Maxine Anderson were traveling. (R. 249) Immediately thereafter, this car continued toward them in its travel until it crashed into Maxine Anderson's car. When this happened, the plaintiff was thrown violently against the windshield and was rendered unconscious. She was unable to tell anything further regarding the accident.

Maxine Anderson said that immediately after the accident she observed the plaintiff jammed between the dashboard and the seat. (R. 227) She was unconscious and was bleeding very profusely around the face. Miss Anderson, who is a trained nurse, explained that plaintiff had an artery cut over her ear, and was bleeding badly over her entire face. Her leg was also cut and bleeding. It appeared that her upper teeth were broken



and those in her lower jaw were loosened. They succeeded in taking plaintiff out of the car and removing her to the home of Avery Beck. (R. 229)

After plaintiff had been removed, a collision occurred when a milk truck, traveling north, struck the Anderson automobile.

Miss Anderson related that the four people who were in the Sorenson car all appeared to be dazed. She said that she was a little cross with Rose Sorenson and asked her what she was doing on her side of the road. Miss Sorenson said, "My God, the bus hit me, I couldn't help it " (R. 229)

The plaintiff then related, in detail, the nature of her injuries. She explained that she had multiple cuts on her face and leg, and then pointed them out in detail to the jury. It appeared that some of these cuts, particularly near her left ear and chin, had left permanent disfiguring scars. (R. 251) It also appeared that as a proximate result, the plaintiff sustained injuries to her chin and jaw. The plaintiff had been compelled to have two upper teeth extracted, and a removable bridge inserted. She also had to have two lower teeth extracted and a removable bridge placed therein. (R. 253) It also appeared that plaintiff had ben confined to her bed for approximately a week, and that she had suffered severe headaches and pain as a result of her injuries. As a result of the two removable bridges, plaintiff spoke with a distinct lisp, particularly when making the *aspirate* sounds. The record does not reveal the age of the plaintiff, but no one will question the fact that she is a young

girl in her 20's. The record does reveal that at the time of her injuries, she was employed in Sanpete County, as a public social worker.

Dr. Hunter, a local dentist, was called to testify in behalf of the plaintiff in regards to the work done to plaintiff's mouth and teeth, and the reasonable expense of the same.

### DEFENDANT'S TESTIMONY

The defendants, in their evidence, disputed only one fact. They admitted that their bus was in the vicinity of the place where plaintiff was injured, at approximately the time the injuries occurred, and they did not dispute the fact that the Sorenson car had run into the car in which the plaintiff had been riding, nor did they dispute the fact that a milk truck had collided with the car in which plaintiff was riding. They did, however, deny that their bus had struck the Rose Sorenson car.

In an attempt to establish that the bus had not struck the car driven by Rose Sorenson, the defendants called the defendant, Leonard Rushing, who was the bus driver. He testified that on November 15, at approximately 6:30 p. m., he was in the vicinity where the accident occurred. He, however, stated that he knew nothing of the accident and was unaware of any noise or bumping which would apprise him of the fact that his bus had collided with any object. He did admit, however, that the passengers on his bus, destined for Salt Lake City, left the bus at Santaquin and completed the trip in another bus. The

bus which he had ben driving was returned to Phoenix, (this bus ordinarily traveled directly to Salt Lake City. The reason for changing passengers at Santaquin and retunning to Phoenix without going to Salt Lake City was unexplained. This was especially peculiar in view of the fact that the defendant claimed that the bus had been undamaged.)

The only car that the defendant Rushing remembered passing was a truck just outside of Redmond. This truck, he observed, resembled a cattle truck and had dual wheels. (R. 250) He also explained that the bus which he was driving is about 39 feet long and carries 35 passengers. When the bus is empty it weighs approximately 11 or 12 tons. (R. 353) On cross examination, the witness Rushing admitted that his bus was 8 feet wide and that when he was driving in one lane, there was only 6 inches clearing on each side. (R. 367) The witness stated that between Redmond and Gunnison he was traveling about 35 miles an hour. When he was about one mile and a half north of Redmond he passed the truck referred to. The truck which he passed was traveling about 20 or 25 miles an hour. (R. 376) The witness also admitted that his bus was the only bus of any kind that runs between Redmond and Gunnison between 6 and 7 o'clock in the evening. (R. 377) (It is approximately 10 to 13 miles from Redmond to Avery Beck's place where the accident occurred.) (R. 371)

Defendant called as a witness, Roscoe Tolstrup, who testified that he was the town marshall at Gunnison. On the 15th day of November, he was called to

Avery Beck's place which is over a mile and 6/10 south of the sugar factory. He received the call at approximately 7:00 o'clock in the evening.

On cross examination Mr. Tolstrup stated that when he arrived at the scene of the accident, the milk truck which had subsequently struck the two cars had left. He therefore stated that he could tell nothing about what damage was done by this milk truck. (T. 387)

G. W. Sorenson was called as a witness for the defendants and testified that he is an automobile dealer at Centerfield, Utah. He stated that he towed a 1937 Chevrolet sedan from Avery Beck's place on the 15th of November. On cross examination, the witness admitted that the pictures shown by Exhibits 3 and 4 did not reflect the true condition of the car as shown on November 15, (R. 395) and he stated that his mechanic turned the left front fender of the Chevrolet automobile over to Mr. Wilkinson some time subsequent to November 15, 1942.

Defendants called H. Leon Embly, highway patrolman, as a witness. He was called to the scene of the accident at approximately 7:30 p. m. and arrived there approximately ten minutes later. (R. 398) He went into the Beck residence where he saw the injured person, and had some discussion with Cleone Jensen, which discussion his counsel did not permit him to relate. (R. 399) The witness stated that the Plymouth car was smashed in front and also along the left side. The witness also stated that he called highway patrolman headquarters in Salt Lake City and asked them to check the

Santa Fe bus which was coming into Salt Lake City that night. Salt Lake City subsequently called Mr. Embly back and told him that the bus had turned around at Santaquin and had not come to Salt Lake City as scheduled. (Why did not the bus come to Salt Lake City?)' On the night of the 16th the witness stopped the north bound bus in Gunnison and made an observation to determine if any damage had been made to the left rear part of the bus. He did not observe any. The witness thought that the bus he had examined on the night of the 16th was either No. 388 or No. 387. He was not sure. (R. 406) (The bus which the defendant Rushing said he was driving on the night of the accident was No. 392.) (R. 358) The witness also checked the southbound bus on the 17th day of November, driven by Mel Rushing. There was no evidence of damage on this bus. He also examined the north bound bus and south bound bus on the 17th day of November. There was no damage on these buses. (R. 407) He did not know the number of these buses. (Note that there is no evidence from witness Embly that he ever examined bus No. 392, which was the bus driven by Leonard Rushing on the night of the accident.) He examined a bus driven by Leonard Rushing on Highway 28 on the evening of November 18th. This was about 4 miles south of Levan. He found no damage on this bus. (R. 409) The witness admitted that north of the point where the Maxine Anderson and Sorenson car collided there were tire marks going onto the west shoulder of the road. (This corroborates the testimony of the women in the Sorenson car to the effect that they drove off the highway onto the west shoulder to avoid

being struck by the Santa Fe bus.) The witness testified that in the conversations he had with the plaintiff and Maxine Anderson subsequent to the collision on November 15, the two girls had not said anything about the Santa Fe bus passing them. (R. 413, and following.)

On cross examination the witness admitted that he had made no memorandum regarding the conversation he had allegedly had with the plaintiff and Maxine Anderson, and that he also had taken no measurements at the scene of the accident. (R. 419-21) He stated that the milk truck which had hit the two cars after the first accident, was an International ton and a half truck with a rack body and a flat bed. (R. 423) As part of the cross examination of the witness, plaintiff introduced Exhibit B which consisted of notes taken by the witness immediately subsequent to his investigation at the scene of the accident. (R. 437, and following) The exhibit indicated that Cleone Jensen stated that on the night of the accident the Sorenson car and bus had collided and that Rose Sorenson said the bus struck her car. His notes also showed that the bus was due at Gunnison at 6:27 and arrived at Gunnison at 6:45 on November 15. (R. 442)

The witness admitted on cross examination that he never put any direct questions to Pearl Spencer as to whether or not she had seen the bus on the night of the collision. (R. 447) In fact he admitted that Pearl Spencer had never stated anything to him regarding the bus. (R. 448) The witness also admitted on cross examination that when there is a three car collision, it is very difficult



to determine how specific damage has been caused. (R. 449)

\* The defendant then called as witnesses Clela Cherrington, Leah Cherrington, Mrs. Harold B. Fulmer, Mrs. Vera Procter and Mrs. Alice Bolton. These witnesses all stated that they were passengers on the Santa Fe bus at the time that plaintiff sustained her injuries. They all stated that it was a stormy night and that the bus was crowded and that none of them heard or felt any impact or collision at any time during the trip from Redmond to Gunnison. After this evidence had been introduced the defendants rested.

#### PLAINTIFF'S REBUTTAL TESTIMONY

The plaintiff called on rebuttal Mr. Royal Whitlock. Mr. Whitlock had been subpoenaed from Gunnison for the defendants, but had not been called by the defendants as a witness. In fact, he was mysteriously excused and directed to return to his home the night before the defendants introduced evidence on rebuttal. It was necessary for the defendants to subpoena him in Gunnison in order for him to re-appear as a witness. (R. 543)

The witness testified that on the night of the collision he and another person were traveling south from Centerfield to Axtel where he was scheduled to speak in Sunday night meeting. He testified that from Centerfield to the point where the accident occurred, he saw two automobiles. The first automobile was a ton and a half truck. This was about a quarter of a mile south of Centerfield. After he had traveled another mile and a

half from where he passed the truck, he passed a large passenger bus which was proceeding in the same direction as the truck. From the time he passed the bus until he arrived at the scene of the accident he passed no other automobile. It was about one half a mile from where he passed the bus to the scene of the accident. (R. 545) He then related the facts and circumstances surrounding the collision in front of Avery Beck's place. He was there when the milk truck subsequently ran into the two parked cars. In fact, he arrived at the scene of the accident before the plaintiff had been removed from Maxine Anderson's car. (R. 546) (This witness's testimony was very important as it showed conclusively that the only vehicle on the road which could have struck the Sorenson car, as alleged by the plaintiffs, was the bus which was within a half mile of the accident when Whitlock first saw it. The testimony is also important because it showed conclusively that the only truck which was on the road near the time of the collision, was a ton and a half truck which was one mile and a half in front of the bus when the bus was one half mile in front of the place where the plaintiff had been injured. Consequently this mysterious truck could not have played a part in the accident as the defendants repeatedly inferred, but did not prove.)

## SPECIFICATION OF ERROR

1. Counsel for the defendants committed reversible error in questioning Rose Sorenson on her failure to have a driver's license. (R. 122-3)



2. The court committed reversible error in permitting counsel for the defendants, over plaintiff's objection, to continue questioning Rose Sorenson on her failure to have a driver's license. (R. 122-3)

3. Counsel for the defendants, Mr. Jones, committed reversible error in his argument to the jury wherein he stated and emphasized the immaterial fact that Rose Sorenson did not have a driver's license. (R. 558)

4. The court committed reversible error in giving instruction No. 6.

5. The court committed reversible error in giving instruction No. 9.

6. The court committed reversible error in giving instruction No. 10.

7. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 3.

8. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 4.

9. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 5.

10. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 6.

11. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 7.

12. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 8.

13. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 9.

14. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 10.

15. The court committed reversible error in its failure to give instruction No. 11.

16. The court committed reversible error in its failure to instruct the jury as to the legal purport and significance of the failure of Rose Sorenson to have a driver's license at the time of the grievance complained of and set forth in plaintiff's complaint.

PROPOSITION I. THE TESTIMONY INTRODUCED BY DEFENDANTS OF ROSE SORENSON'S FAILURE TO HAVE A DRIVER'S LICENSE, AND COUNSEL FOR THE DEFENDANTS DISCUSSION OF SUCH EVIDENCE BEFORE THE JURY CONSTITUTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHICH DENIED TO THE DEFENDANT A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.

In Specification of Error No. 1, 2, and 3 the appellant has directed the court's attention to the record wherein the error complained of is indicated. At pages 122 and 123 of the record the following questioning of Rose Sorenson by defense counsel appears:

Q How long have you ben driving a car?

A About two years.

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