1944

## Pearl Spencer v. Santa Fe Trail Transportation Co. and Leonard Rushing : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

Counsel state on page 10 of their brief that Highway Patrolman Embley "admitted" that there were tire marks on the west shoulder of the road north of the point of collision between the Anderson and Sorensen cars as corroboration of the testimony of the occupants of the Sorensen car that they had driven off the highway to avoid being struck by the bus. As a matter of fact, Officer Embley testified that there were no marks



on the highway indicating how the accident happened. "I did not find any marks on the road that night from the shoulder or any other place" (R. 410-411). With reference to the west shoulder itself, he stated that 50 to 100 feet north of the point of collision between the two cars he found tire marks on the west shoulder and that they were made from cars that were stopping there all the time, that if there had been any skid marks, they would still have been present but there were none (R. 430-431). The tire marks on the west shoulder were all along there from the cars that had stopped there on account of the collision between the Anderson and Sorensen cars (R. 410, 454).

On page 11 appellant's counsel say that Exhibit B (Embley's notes) indicated that Cleone Jensen stated that on the night of the accident the Sorensen car and the bus had collided, the impression being that on the night of the accident Cleone Jensen had stated that the bus collided with the Sorensen car. As a matter of fact, Embley stated that he didn't get any of the statements the night of the accident but got them on the next day (R. 436), including Cleone Jensen's statement.

On page 12 appellant implies that the bus ride for the passengers was one of turmoil and confusion by saying:

"They all stated that it was a stormy night and that the bus was crowded."

As a matter of fact, all of the passengers said it was a peaceful, uneventful, restful trip, and when counsel attempted to inject a blinding storm into it, one of the witnesses said that one of the appealing things about the trip was her observation in the snowstorm of the pheasants along the roadway. The bus ride was a warm, comfortable, pleasant trip with nothing whatever occurring to disturb the equanimity of any of these lady passengers.

On page 12 appellant tries to give the impression that we had spirited a witness, Mr. Whitlock, away from the trial. Mr. Whitlock's testimony was at variance with a statement he had previously given to us, in which statement he stated that the truck was following the bus. Then later he stated that the bus was following the truck. In his statement and also in his evidence he stated that the truck had no clearance lights on it, while in his testimony in the Anderson case he stated that the truck had clearance lights on it. About the only thing he remained firm about was that the truck almost hit his car. We, nevertheless, subpoenaed him and intended to use him and counsel knows, as the record clearly discloses, why he was excused. Mr. Whitlock stated at the trial:

“BY MR. JONES (R. 548):

Q. Mr. Whitlock, Mr. McCullough asked you if you had been subpoenaed by the defendant and not used; that is right, isn't it?

A. That is right.

- Q. Tuesday night you were excused, is that it?  
A. I was.  
Q. You told me you had to get back the next day, didn't you?  
A. I did. Yes.  
Q. And you couldn't wait over?  
A. That is right.  
Q. Without great financial loss to you, and so I said, 'Well, you go ahead.'  
A. That is correct.  
Q. The plaintiff brought you back, and not me?  
A. They did."

The only mystery about the matter is appellant's counsel's mention of the episode in their brief. It is akin to the other mysteries in the story told by their witnesses. It is significant, however, that Mr. Whitlock testified to the presence of a truck without lights that nearly ran into him. These details appellant fails to call to our attention.

## ARGUMENT

While appellant has specified 16 errors, she has discussed but 2 propositions:

**"PROPOSITION I. THE TESTIMONY INTRODUCED BY DEFENDANTS OF ROSE SORENSEN'S FAILURE TO HAVE A DRIVER'S LICENSE, AND COUNSEL FOR THE DEFENDANT'S DISCUSSION OF SUCH EVIDENCE BEFORE THE JURY CONSTITUTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHICH DENIED TO THE DEFENDANT A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.**

PROPOSITION II. THE COURT ERRED IN LIMITING THE JURY TO THE QUESTION OF WHETHER OR NOT DEFENDANT'S BUS STRUCK THE AUTOMOBILE DRIVEN BY ROSE SORENSEN, AND ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT IF SAID BUS CROWDED ROSE SORENSEN'S CAR OFF THE ROAD AND THEREBY PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTED TO PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES THEN SAID BUS COMPANY WOULD BE LIABLE."

We shall, therefore, discuss only the specifications of error covered by the two propositions. Several of the specifications of error, such as 8, 9, 10, 12, and 14 on pages 14 and 15 of the brief, undoubtedly were abandoned by appellant in view of the fact that the instructions requested are merely repetitious and were fully covered by equally, if not more, exhaustive instructions given by the court.

Coming now to Proposition I. Appellant complains that we introduced testimony that Rose Sorensen didn't have a driver's license and of our comments to the jury referring to her absence of a driver's license as one of her reasons for desiring to direct attention from herself to the defendant company and take the onus of an investigation from her own shoulders and place it on ours. Appellant then cites several authorities to the effect that failure to have a driver's license will not deprive a person of his right to recover for injuries inflicted on him through negligence of another unless the absence of the license has a causal connection with the accident. We find it somewhat difficult to understand why appellant has cited these authorities, since we never contended that Rose Sorensen's lack of a driver's license would

deprive the plaintiff of her cause of action, if any, against us. That the court was of the same opinion is abundantly apparent in instruction No. 8 to the jury wherein we thought the court went a good deal farther than was proper in eliminating anything pertaining to Rose Sorensen from the consideration of the jury (this instruction will be referred to more extensively later). We did not introduce testimony that Rose Sorensen had no driver's license. We knew she didn't have one. We asked her why she didn't have one, and appellant herself produced this evidence later in page 2 of her Exhibit B and her examination of the witness Embley with reference thereto (R. 439). This witness was the one from whom we also received our information that Rose Sorensen had no driver's license. We in our cross examination were trying to find some basis for the weird story told by Miss Sorensen. We knew that our bus had not been involved in any accident and had not sideswiped or collided with any car. At that point in the trial we did not know that Miss Spencer and Miss Anderson were going to state that the bus was anywhere in the vicinity of the accident at the time it occurred, since they had led Officer Embley to believe that they had not seen the bus that day and that if it had been in front of them, they would certainly have seen it. Miss Sorensen had testified that she and all the other occupants of her car were very nervous every time the bus passed them and we were wondering if her nervousness was of such a nature as to prevent her from getting a driver's license. Certainly she had no right to be driving the car on that occasion

without a driver's license and if her nervousness had prevented her from getting a license, we were certainly entitled to know that, especially in view of the fact that we know of no reason why she collided head-on with the Anderson car. Our bus showed no evidence of any contact with her car, and certainly no collision with our bus could have accounted for the damage to the left front fender of her car or her fantastic statement that the bus had glided gently into her but with sufficient force to knock her dazed and that the terrific impact with the Anderson car brought her to. If her nervousness and her inability to secure a driver's license caused her to go off the west side of the road and then careen over to the east side, she and not ourselves were responsible for the accident, and the fact that she had no driver's license certainly required an inquiry and explanation of why she didn't have one. We had contended all along that we had nothing to do with the accident. Rose Sorensen was the one who ran into the Anderson car and certainly any evidence affecting her credibility or explaining her reasons for trying to divert attention from herself to somebody else was not only competent and material, but highly relevant, particularly in view of the fact that neither she nor any of the occupants of her car had sued us. We never contended that if the bus had actually hit the Sorensen car the fact that Miss Sorensen had no driver's license would deprive the plaintiff of her right of action against us and the court plainly and emphatically told the jury that plaintiff could not be held responsible for anything Rose Sorensen did if our bus had hit



her car. If Rose Sorensen's nervousness was the cause of her erratic driving so that she could not secure a driver's license, that would explain how she happened to go off the road on the west side and then cross over to the east side and hit the Anderson car. Certainly it taxes credulity to believe that our heavy bus could have hit her and the blow of the bus deflect her course to the east in the same direction from which the alleged force came, instead of to the west and down into the barrow pit immediately adjacent to the west shoulder as laws of physics would seem to require. We were then and are now entirely in the dark as to why Rose Sorensen collided with the Anderson car and were entitled to discover if we could any reason for her actions that night.

It will be noted that both our question on cross-examination and our reference to the driver's license in argument to the jury are directed solely to the credibility of the witness in her efforts to divert attention from herself to us, the innocent bystander, as the cause of the accident.

In stating their Proposition I, appellant's counsel say, "The testimony introduced by defendants of Rose Sorensen's failure to have a driver's license," etc. We did not introduce any evidence that she didn't have a driver's license. That was done by appellant's own counsel by means of their Exhibit B. All we did was ask Miss Sorensen why she didn't have one. Appellant was under no compulsion or necessity to offer Exhibit B in evidence. Her counsel knew it was incompetent

and hearsay, but notwithstanding that, he made a play of it before the jury, waving it around in front of the jury and the witness, and probably no one was more surprised than appellant's counsel himself at our consent to the reception in evidence of his Exhibit B. Appellant's counsel asked the witness Embley if he had made any memorandum. Upon receiving an affirmative answer, he asked for the memorandum and then asked the indulgence of the court while he proceeded to read it to himself in the presence of the court and jury. He then asked to have it marked and said (R. 432, 433):

“Now, turning to the second page of what has been marked for identification as Exhibit ‘B’, is there any memoranda there with reference to what Maxine Anderson said to you?”

(It will be noted that on the second page also appears under the heading Rose Sorensen, the following: “No operator's license”). Of course we objected to this method of procedure and insisted that we should have a right to look at the exhibit and that if he was going to examine with reference to these notes, they should be offered in evidence before such an examination took place. Counsel persisted in his efforts and we insisted on seeing the notes. Counsel protested that he didn't want “to disclose my hand to the attorneys on the other side.” Mr. Embley stated that the information contained in the notes was received from the persons questioned the day after the accident and that he did not get the information from them the night of the accident. This



colloquy covers five or six pages of the record (R. 432-437). The following appears on page 437:

“MR. McCULLOUGH: As part of the cross examination of this witness, we would like to offer in evidence the Exhibit B, including all of the statements which he has here with reference not only to Maxine Anderson, but each and every one of the witnesses, as to what they told him, as far as the accident is concerned.

MR. JONES: Mr. McCullough knows it is absolutely incompetent. \* \* \* but I haven't any objection to its going in.

THE COURT: I thought you were going to object to it.

MR. JONES: It is objectionable, and he knows it is, but I am going to let the jury see it. He has made this play before them; let them see it.

MR. McCULLOUGH: No play at all.

THE COURT: Let's go ahead. No objection?

MR. JONES: It is all right.

THE COURT: It may be received.”

Thus appellant's counsel himself offered the evidence that Rose Sorensen had no operator's license. All we did was question her as to why she didn't have one.

Not satisfied with having put the exhibit in evidence, counsel then proceeded to go over the memorandum item by item (R. 439):

“Q. And the next page, you got 'Rose Sorensen'?

A. The driver.

Q. 'Redmond, Utah'. That is her address?

A. Yes.

Q. 'Age 49'. Is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. 'One year driving.' Correct?

A. Yes sir, one year driving experience, that is.

Q. And then it shows 'No operator's license'.

A. That is right."

It is thus somewhat ludicrous for counsel to object to our asking Rose Sorensen why she didn't have a license when he is the one who later insisted on presenting to the jury the positive evidence that she didn't have the license.

Even if we were to assume that the cross examination is erroneous in the first instance, which it was not, any complaint appellant may have had was certainly waived by the voluntary conduct of her own counsel in offering the only positive evidence there is of the non-existence of her driver's license. In this state, as in most jurisdictions, we have definite statutory enactments that would preclude appellant taking advantage of any such situation even had our cross examination been improper, which it was not. Section 104-14-7, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, provides:

"The court must in every stage of an action disregard any error or defect in the pleadings or proceedings which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties, and no judgment shall be reversed or affected by reason of such error or defect."

Also, Section 104-39-3, as follows:

“No exception shall be regarded, unless the decision excepted to is material and prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party excepting.”

Certainly in the face of counsel's own conduct, nothing that we did was prejudicial or effected the substantial rights of the plaintiff. The jury would have known of Rose Sorensen's lack of a driver's license if we had never said a word. Counsel was, to use an expressive colloquialism, “hell bent” on getting Exhibit B in evidence or else making the jury believe it contained something we were afraid of, even though he knew it was incompetent. Counsel is thus hoist with his own petard.

As this court said in *B. T. Moran, Inc., v. First Security Corporation*, 82 Utah 316, 24 P. (2d) 384, at page 327 of the Utah Reports:

“With the copy of the telegram eliminated there was sufficient evidence to support a finding that notice of withdrawal of the offer was communicated to the agent before acceptance of the contract by the principal at Chicago.”

In that case evidence claimed to be incompetent was received over objection, but later the same information was put in without objection and thus no prejudice occurred. Paraphrasing the language of this court in that case, we could say:

“With the cross examination of Rose Sorensen eliminated there was sufficient evidence to support a finding that she had no driver's license.”

Also in the case of *Schofield v. Zion's Co-op. Mercantile Institution*, 85 Utah 281, 39 P. (2d) 342, where complaint was made of the introduction of certain letters but the information contained in the letters was subsequently otherwise received in evidence, this court at page 294 of the Utah Report says:

“Furthermore no dispute is made in the record as to the facts recited in the letters, so they could in no wise be prejudicial.”

In the case of *Van Leeuwen v. Huffaker*, 78 Utah 521, 5 P. (2d) 714, secondary evidence as to the contents of a written instrument was received without the proper foundation being laid for its reception. Objection was made, which was overruled. This court held that it was error to overrule the objection but that the error was rendered harmless by what transpired afterwards during the trial. The same evidence as was contained in the secondary evidence was offered and received orally and this court on page 534 of the Utah Reports says:

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